Ammonite stratigraphy of the Valanginian to Barremian for the Mediterranean region

Jaap Klein & Philip J. Hoedemaeker

Klein, J. & Ph.J. Hoedemaeker. Ammonite stratigraphy of the Valanginian to Barremian for the Mediterranean region. — Scripta Geol., Spec. Issue 3: 97-127, 3 figs., Leiden, December 1999. Jaap Klein, Demmerik 12, 3645 EC Vinkeveen, The Netherlands; Philip J. Hoedemaeker, Nationaal Natuurhistorisch Museum Naturalis, Postbus 9517, 2300 RA Leiden, The Netherlands.

Since the 2nd Workshop of the Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod Team in Mula, Spain (Hoedemaeker et al., 1993), several ammonite zones and ammonite horizons have been introduced that still have not be inserted in the standard zonation of the Mediterranean area. In the present survey (1) the different results of various independent specialists are compared, (2) an attempt is made to correlate their resulting zonation schemes, and (3) recommendations are given for the use of the newly introduced zones and horizons in the Mediterranean region.

Contents

Introduction	97
Valanginian and lower Hauterivian zonation	98
Grenoble proposals	98
Lyon proposals	103
Comparison and correlation of the Grenoble and Lyon schemes	
New upper Hauterivian zones and horizons	108
Barremian zones and horizons	110
Correlations of the Granada scheme of the Barremian Stage with the Nice sche	me 119
Conclusions	120
Acknowledgements	122
References	122

Introduction

Since the 2nd workshop of the International Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod team in Mula (Spain) in 1992 (Hoedemaeker et al., 1993), several new ammonite zones and biohorizons for the Mediterranean region have been introduced and defined. Some of them were already introduced before the 3rd workshop of this team in Piobbico (Italy) in 1994 (Hoedemaeker et al., 1995), but the team preferred not to change the standard zonation because too many changes in too short a time would affect the credibility of the team. Also during the 4th workshop in London in 1997 (Rawson et al., this volume) the team again decided not to change the zonation, because many newly proposed biostratigraphic units were still invalid, controversial, or difficult to calibrate. The team hopes to be able to perform the necessary changes in 2000, when there will be a 5th workshop. This paper gives an outline of the ammonite zones and biohorizons that have been proposed since 1992 for the Mediterranean region and discusses their validity and usefulness for a future standard zonation.

At first we discuss the ammonite zones and horizons that were introduced since 1992 by two independent groups of lower Cretaceous ammonite specialists, one from

Grenoble (mainly the authors Bulot and Thieuloy) and the other from Lyon (mainly the authors Atrops and Reboulet). They published many papers on the Valanginian and Hauterivian strata in southeast France. The newly proposed ammonite zones and horizons are here compared, the zonal schemes as far as possible correlated, and recommendations are given as to the validity and workability of the newly proposed biostratigraphic units as standard biostratigraphic units for the Mediterranean region.

Secondly we discuss the new zones and horizons proposed for the upper Hauterivian and Barremian. For the upper Hauterivian no spectacular changes have been proposed. For the Barremian, however, several new biostratigraphic units have been introduced mainly by two groups of specialists: one from Granada (Spain) and one from Nice (France). Company, Sandoval & Tavera (1995) from Granada propose for this stage a zonal scheme that is slightly different from that of the Mula scheme. Their scheme is based on the analysis of the stratigraphic distribution of over 4000 ammonites collected in different sections of the Betic Cordillera (Spain).

The knowledge of the ammonite stratigraphy in the Barremian stratotype is recently considerably augmented as a result of the work of the authors Delanoy and Vermeulen from Nice. The stratotype, therefore, can now very well be used as a reference for correlation. Vermeulen (1996a, 1997a, 1998b) proposed a heterophyletic biozonation for this stage based on the ammonite family Pulchelliidae, a result of his investigations in SE France and Spain and his study of this family. Delanoy (1997, 1998) proposed some new horizons for the Upper Barremian Substage, which has since long been the subject of his research.

Also the work in Spain of Company et al. (1995), Hoedemaeker (1995) and Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995) has considerably contributed to a more detailed correlation and a better knowledge of the upper Hauterivian and Barremian stratigraphy of the Mediterranean region.

Valanginian and lower Hauterivian zonation (Fig. 1)

Grenoble proposals

Horizon of *Kilianella thieuloyi* (upper part of the Otopeta Subzone)

Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) indicate that this horizon spans the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *Kilianella thieuloyi* nom. nud. (unpublished thesis of Bulot, 1995) and that of *Tirnovella pertransiens* (Sayn,1907), without giving a formal definition.

The ammonite association of this horizon is nearly equal to that of the lower part of the Otopeta Subzone. All this hinders the use this biohorizon in a Mediterranean context.

Zone of Olcostephanus (Olcostephanus) stephanophorus

This zone was defined by Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *O. (O.) stephanophorus* (Matheron, 1878) and that of *Karakaschiceras inostranzewi* (Karakasch, 1889). *O. (O.) stephanophorus* was carefully described by Bulot & Autran (1989). It appears to be well distinguishable from other species of *Olcostephanus*.

stage	Bulot & Thieuloy, 1992-1995		Atrops & Reboulet, 1992-1995		
sta	Zone	Horizons	Zones	Horizons	
HAUTERIVIAN	L. nodosoplicatum	L. collignoni	L. nodosoplicatum	L. bargemense	
	·	O. variegatus		L. nodosoplicatum	
	C. loryi	O. (J.) jeannoti	C. loryi	O. (J.) jeannoti	
		C. loryi		C. loryi	
	A. radiatus	L. buxtorfi	A. radiatus		
H H		B. castellanense			
	T. callidiscus		T. callidiscus		
		T. callidiscus		T. callidiscus	
	H. trinodosum	C. furcillata	H. trinodosum	C. subheterocostata	
				C. furcillata	
		O. nicklesi		K. companyi	
				O. nicklesi	
	S. verrucosum	V. perigrinus		V. perigrinus	
z		K. pronecostatum	S. verrucosum	K. pronecostatum	
IIA		S. verrucosum		N. neocomiensis	
151				S. verrucosum	
VALANGINIAN				N. (E.) platycostatus	
L/	K. inostranzewi			K. biassalense	
VA			B. campylotoxus	S. fuhri	
		B. campylotoxus		K. quadristrangulatum	
	O. stephanophorus	B. subcampylotoxus			
		B. hirsutus		B. hirsutus	
	T pertransiens		T. pertransiens		
	K. otopeta	K. thieuloyi			
		K. otopeta			

Klein & Hoedemaeker. Valanginian-Barremian ammonite stratigraphy. Scripta Geol., Spec. Issue 3 (1999)

Fig. 1. Newly proposed Valanginian and lower Hauterivian zones and horizons.

The distribution is almost global: France, Switzerland (?), Spain, South Africa (?) according to Bulot & Autran (1989) and Pakistan according to Fatmi & Rawson (1993). The ammonite association is quite different from that of the Pertransiens Zone, for simultaneously with the name-giving species appear according to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995): Busnardoites roberti (Bulot, 1995) nom. nud., Baronnites hirsutus (Fallot & Termier, 1923), Olcostephanus (O.) tenuituberculatus morph A (Bulot, 1995), O. (O.) drumensis pelegrinus (Sayn) nom.nud., O. (O.) josephinus (d'Orbigny, 1850), and Neocomites (N.) teschenensis (Uhlig, 1901).

If Bulot (1995) is right in banning the presence of true Busnardoites campylotoxus (Uhlig, 1901) to the upper part of the Stephanophorus Zone (in contrast to the data of Reboulet, 1995), this zone could be, together with the overlying Inostranzewi Zone, a substitute for the the upper part of the Pertransiens Zone (Horizon of Baronnites hirsutus) and the current Campylotoxus Zone. The Salinarium Zone, defined in SE Spain (Company, 1987) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of B. hirsutus and the appearance of Saynoceras verrucosum (d'Orbigny, 1841), cannot be an alternative for the Campylotoxus Zone, for, although it would occupy the same inter-

val as the Stephanophorus and Inostranzewi zones as proposed by Bulot & Thieuloy (Company, 1987), ammonites identical to the index species, *Vergoliceras salinarium*, were already found in the Otopeta Zone in France according to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) and own investigations.

Horizon of Baronnites hirsutus (basal part of the Stephanophorus Zone)

The base of this horizon was defined by Company (1987) as the level of the first appearance of *Baronnites hirsutus* (Fallot & Termier, 1923); later Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) defined the top of the horizon as the level of the first appearance of *Busnar*-*doites subcampylotoxus* Nikolov, 1977.

B. hirsutus is easy to identify and the ammonite association of the horizon is significantly distinct from that of the Pertransiens Zone (see Zone of *Olcostephanus stephanophorus*). However, the known distribution is limited (France and Spain only), so that its value as a standard subzone for the entire Mediterranean region is still unclear.

Horizon of Busnardoites subcampylotoxus (middle part of the Stephanophorus Zone)

The horizon was defined by Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *B. subcampylotoxus* and that of *B. campylotoxus*. Hitherto no French specimen of *B. subcampylotoxus* has been figured; the species was merely mentioned in a faunal list from the shallow water deposits of the Carejuan section (Bulot et al., 1995b) and it is not figured in Bulot's unpublished thesis (1995). All other French records are uncertain. Despite the fact that Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) mention four successively appearing species of *Busnardoites* (*B. roberti* Bulot, 1995, nom. nud., *B. subcampylotoxus*, *B. campylotoxus*, and *B. meganae* Bulot 1995, nom. nud., respectively), it is not possible to estimate the correlation value of this horizon before Bulot's data are published. Neither is it possible to judge its validity as to the composition of its characteristic ammonite association against the overlying Campylotoxus Horizon, nor to judge whether it is justified to abandon the Campylotoxus Zone. According to Nikolov (1977) and Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) *B. subcampylotoxus* appears earlier than *B. campylotoxus*. Company (1987), however, recorded *B. subcampylotoxus* at the top of his Salinarium Zone, just before the appearance of *Saynoceras verrucosum*.

Horizon of *Busnardoites campylotoxus* (upper part of the Stephanophorus Zone)

The horizon was defined by Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *B. campylotoxus* and that of *Karakaschiceras inostranzewi*.

B. campylotoxus has a very wide distribution within the Mediterranean Region (Nikolov, 1977; Reboulet, 1995); specimens of this species were mentioned from Pakistan (Fatmi, 1977) and Madagascar (Collignon, 1962), but these identifications are probably not correct. Justification of this horizon awaits further discussion and publication of more details about the genus *Busnardoites*. Moreover, this horizon should not be confounded with the Zone of *B. campylotoxus*, which was introduced by Thieuloy (1973) and defined by Busnardo & Thieuloy (1979) as the interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and the first appearance of *Saynoceras verrucosum*, which is considerably higher than the first appearance of *K. inostranzewi*.

Such a drastic change in the concept of a biostratigraphic unit, while keeping the same name, is not recommended by the International Subcommission on Stratigraphic Nomenclature. The use of this horizon is therefore discouraged.

Zone of Karakaschiceras inostranzewi

The zone was defined by Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *K. inostranzewi* and that of *Saynoceras verrucosum*.

K. inostranzewi can easily be distinguished from *K. biassalense* (Karakasch, 1889). It is recorded from the Crimea, Roumania (?), France, Spain, and Morocco (see Company, 1987). The accompanying ammonite fauna is characteristic: *Neohoploceras provinciale* (Sayn, 1907), *Valanginites paludensis* Thieuloy, 1977, *Saynoceras fuhri* Bulot, Company & Thieuloy, 1990, and *Karakaschiceras biassalense*.

According to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995), *K. inostranzewi* and *K. biassalense* have exactly the same stratigraphic range. The reasons for abandoning the Horizon of *K. biassalense* of Bulot et al. (1992b) and Bulot & Thieuloy (1993) are not explained in Bulot & Thieuloy (1995); they refer to the unpublished thesis of Bulot (1995). The distribution and the high frequency of *K. biassalense* are in favour of this species as index species of the zone instead of *K. inostranzewi*.

Horizon of *Karakaschiceras pronecostatum* (sensu Bulot et al., 1992a-b: middle part of Verrucosum Zone)

This horizon was defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *K. pronecostatum* (Felix, 1891) and that of *Varlheideites peregrinus* Rawson & Kemper, 1978. It was introduced by Bulot et al. (1992a) and defined by Reboulet et al. (1992) and by Bulot et al. (1992b).

According to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) the variability of *K. pronecostatum* is very great and will be discussed and illustrated in the unpublished thesis of Bulot (1995). Only one specimen of this species has been figured by Thieuloy et al. (1990) under the name of *K. biassalense;* it was later included in *K. pronecostatum* by Bulot et al. (1992b). In the vast collection of one of the authors (J.K.) the specimens of *Karakaschiceras* from the Pronecostatum Horizon of the La Charce section (beds 204-211) are not really comparable with the original material of Pictet & Campiche studied by J.K. in Lausanne. According to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) *K. pronecostatum* is reported from France, Austria, The Crimea, Algeria, Pakistan, and Madagascar, and possibly from Roumania, Bulgaria, Spain and Marocco. It has also been reported from Poland

In this horizon lay the acmes of *Neohoploceras depereti* (Sayn, 1907) and *Rodighieroites lamberti* (Sayn, 1907). However, until now the latter two species have not been found outside France with certainty; furthermore how *K. pronecostatum* precisely looks like is still obscure at this moment. This must be cleared before acceptation as a standard horizon.

Horizon of *Varlheideites peregrinus* (sensu Bulot et al., 1992a-b: upper part of the Verrucosum Zone)

This horizon was defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *V. peregrinus* and that of *Himantoceras trinodosum* Thieuloy, 1964; it was introduced by Bulot et al. (1992a) and defined by Reboulet et al. (1992) and Bulot et al.

(1992b). V. peregrinus is easily identifiable when complete.

It was first described from North Germany and is now found in France, Switzerland, Spain (Klein, in prep.), and perhaps in Italy (Cecca, 1995; Faraoni et al., 1997). This horizon is expected to be recognized all over the Mediterranean region and to be of importance for Boreal-Tethyan correlation.

Horizon of Breistrofferella castellanensis (lower part of the Radiatus Zone)

The horizon was introduced by Bulot et al. (1992b) for the lower part of the Radiatus Zone but not formally defined. *B. castellanensis* (d'Orbigny, 1840) is reported from France, Switzerland, Spain, Tunesia, Caucasus (?), and northern Germany (Klein, in prep.). It may be of importance for Boreal-Tethyan correlation. The first appearance of this species can be considered a good indicator of the Valanginian-Hauterivian boundary in the absence of *Acanthodiscus*. After verification of the determination of this species in the Caucasus, this species may be considered to formally define this horizon and it may be included in the standard zonal scheme for the Mediterranean region.

Horizon of *Leopoldia buxtorfi* (upper part of the Radiatus Zone)

This horizon is introduced by Arnaud et al. (1992) in a stratigraphic diagram of the Carejuan section as the upper part of the Radiatus Zone without formal definition. *L. buxtorfi* Baumberger, 1905, is at this moment known from Switzerland, France, and possibly Algeria and northern Germany. The species is only found in condensed platform sections and is therefore not useful for correlation over the entire Mediterranean Region.

Horizon of *Olcostephanus (Olcostephanus) variegatus* (lower part of the Nodosoplicatum Zone)

The horizon was introduced by Bulot (1990) and later defined by Bulot et al. (1992b) as the basal part of the Nodosoplicatum Zone without defining its top. It is probably the last species of *Olcostephanus* before extinction of the genus. *O. (O.) varie-gatus* (Paquier, 1890) is recently extensivily described by Bulot (1990).

According to Bulot the species is of great importance for interregional correlation, for it has a nearly worlwide distribution and has been found in Switzerland, France, Great Brittain, Tanzania, and possibly Peru, Colombia and Mexico. It is a small disadvantage that the first appearance of the species is slightly below that of *Lyticoceras nodosoplicatum* (Kilian & Reboul, 1915), but the high frequency and the wide distribution favour a more universal use of this horizon.

Horizon of *Lyticoceras collignoni* (upper part of the Nodosoplicatum Zone)

The horizon was introduced by Bulot et al. (1995b) but not defined. The type specimen of this undiagnosed species is according to Bulot et al. (1995b) *Lytoceras cryptoceras* Thieuloy, non d'Orbigny, in Kemper et al. (1981: pl. 42, fig. 2). This species has hitherto been mentioned only from France.

Lyon proposals

Horizon of Karakaschiceras quadristrangulatum (lower part of the Campylotoxus Zone)

This horizon was defined by Atrops & Reboulet (1995a) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *Busnardoites campylotoxus* and that of *Saynoceras fuhri*.

Atrops & Reboulet (1995a-b) recorded a single specimen of *K. quadristrangulatum* (Sayn, 1907) (though questionably) at the very base of the Campylotoxus Zone in the La Charce section. The second specimen was reported from the middle of the namebearing horizon. In the Vergol section no *K. quadristrangulatum* was found in its name-bearing horizon, but only in the Horizon of *K. biassalense*. Later Reboulet (1995) omitted the dubious specimen from La Charce, which implies that the first appearance of the species is in the middle of its name-bearing horizon only in the La Charce section.

Whether the large calcareous specimens of *K. quadristrangulatum* depicted by Atrops & Reboulet (1995a) belong to the same species as the limonitized type specimen of Sayn, cannot be established; it was only guessed by Atrops & Reboulet (1995a). The type specimen originates from Beaumugne, where only the Verrucosum Zone (with pyritized ammonites) is well exposed. Kutek et al (1989) cited this species from the Pertransiens Zone and from high in the Verrucosum Zone. Perhaps it concerns two homeomorphic species of *Karakaschiceras*. All together, it is recommended here to abandon this Horizon.

Horizon of Saynoceras fuhri (lower middle part of the Campylotoxus Zone)

This horizon was defined by Atrops & Reboulet (1995a) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and that of *Karakaschiceras biassalense*.

S. fuhri is easily identifiable. In the reference sections of Vergol and La Charce the name-giving species is relatively abundant. Insertion of this horizon in the Mediterranean standard zonation is at this moment not recommendable because of the limited information available on its distribution (only France) and the lack of a significantly distinct ammonite association.

Horizon of *Karakaschiceras biassalense* (sensu Atrops & Reboulet, 1995a: upper middle part of the Campylotoxus Zone)

At first this horizon was informally proposed by Cotillon (1971) to represent the interval now occupied by the upper part of the current Campylotoxus Zone up to the first appearance of *Acanthodiscus radiatus* at the base of the Hauterivian Stage. Since the redefinition of the Verrucosum Zone by Moullade (1966), Moullade & Thieuloy (1967), and Busnardo & Thieuloy (1979) it was retained in a restricted sense as the upper part of the Campylotoxus Zone and informally conceived as the biostratigraphic interval from the first appearance of the name-giving species to the first appearance of *Saynoceras verrucosum* (d'Orbigny, 1841) (Bulot et al., 1992b; Bulot & Thieuloy, 1993). In 1995, however, Bulot & Thieuloy replaced it without any arguments by the Zone of *Karakaschiceras inostranzewi*, which has the same characteristic ammonite association. Atrops & Reboulet (1995b) still stick to the Horizon of *K. bias*-

salense, but inserted a new horizon, the Horizon of *Neocomites* (*Eristavites*) platycostatus, between it and the Zone of *S. verrucosum*. They defined the horizon as the biostratigraphic interval between the last occurrence of *S. fuhri* and the first appearance of *N.* (*E.*) platycostatus Sayn, 1907.

The Horizon of *K. biassalense* in the sense of Atrops & Reboulet (1995a) is of limited use. However, if it is used in the sense of Bulot et al. (1992b) it may be a good, or even preferable substitute for the Inostranzewi Zone and has the potential to be inserted in the standard zonation for the Mediterranean region.

Horizon of *Neocomites (Eristavites) platycostatus* (upper part of the Campylotoxus Zone)

This horizon was defined by Atrops & Reboulet (1995b) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and that of *Saynoceras verrucosum*.

The distribution of *N*. (*E*.) *platycostatus* is, according to our present knowledge, rather wide: France, Switzerland, Spain, Czech Republic, and Sumatra (Indonesia) (Baumberger, 1925). Notwithstanding the wide horizontal distribution, the horizon does not have a significantly distinct ammonite association.

On account of its wide distribution the species may well function as an important correlation tool. Its use as a Mediterranean standard horizon is, however, not recommended.

Horizon of Neocomites neocomiensis (lower middle part of the Verrucosum Zone)

This horizon was defined by Atrops & Reboulet (1993) as the biostratigraphic interval between the disappearance of *Saynoceras verrucosum* and that of *Karakaschiceras pronecostatum* (Felix, 1891) sensu Atrops & Reboulet, 1992. The interval with many pyritized specimens ('riche en exemplaires pyriteux') of *N. neocomiensis* (d'Orbigny, 1841) in the Angles section is not accompanied by other characteristic ammonite species. *N. neocomiensis* was reported to be present up to the Horizon of *Olcostephanus nicklesi*. In 1995 Reboulet showed that in the Vergol, Morenas, and Gouravour sections the frequencies of *N. neocomiensis* in the Horizon of *N. neocomiensis* and in the overlying Horizon of *K. pronecostatum* are not perceptably different, and that in the Angles section the acme of this species is even situated in the Horizon of *K. pronecostatum*.

The lack of any characteristic species in the Neocomiensis Horizon makes it unsuitable for insertion in the Mediterranean Standard zonation. *N. neocomiensis* has been reported outside the Mediterranean region from Indonesia (Baumberger, 1925; von Koenigswald, 1939), China (He Guo-xiong & Xia Jin-bao, 1984), and Mexico (Böse, 1923; Gonzales Arrelola et al., 1995)

Horizon of *Karakaschiceras pronecostatum* (sensu Reboulet et al., 1992: upper middle part of the Verrucosum Zone)

This horizon was defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *K. pronecostatum* and that of *Varlheideites peregrinus*.

The species concept of *K. pronecostatum* is not yet clear (see foregoing chapter). The larger specimens of Reboulet (1995: pl. 1, figs. 2, 8) are not comparable with the

specimens of Pictet and Campiche. Only the specimen depicted on pl. 1, fig. 7 compares well with the holotype. It is difficult to demarcate the specimens called *K. pronecostatum* of the Pronecostatum Horizon from those called *K. biassalensis* of the underlying Verrucosum Horizon. This is the reason why Reboulet et al. (1992) found the first specimen that they called *K. pronecostatum* in bed 204 of the La Charce section, Bulot et al. (1992a) in bed 207, and Klein (own investigation) in bed 208 (bed numbers of Bulot et al., 1992a).

Because of the uncertainty of the identity of *K. pronecostatum*, this horizon (sensu Bulot & Thieuloy and sensu Atrops & Reboulet) cannot yet be unambiguously applied in the standard Mediterranean ammonite zonation.

Horizon of *Varlheideites peregrinus* (sensu Reboulet et al., 1992: upper part of the Verrucosum Zone)

This horizon was defined (Reboulet et al., 1992; Reboulet, 1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *V. perigrinus* and that of *Olcostephanus nicklesi* (Wiedmann & Dieni, 1968). According to Reboulet et al. (1992) it is characterized by the association of the name-giving species with *Rodighieroites cardulus* (Company, 1987), *Neocomites neocomiensis* and *N. retowskyi* (Sarasin & Schöndelmayer, 1901).

It is important to note that the use of the latter species in characterizing the horizon, was based on a misidentification, because *N. retowskyi* is a lower Berriasian species (type species of the genus *Pseudoneocomites* Hoedemaeker, 1982). Also should be mentioned that Reboulet later (1995) reidentified *Rodighieroites cardulus* as *R. belimelensis* (Mandov, 1976), following Bulot et al. (1992b). According to Reboulet et al. (1992) the base of the horizon in the La Charce section lies a few beds below the level where Bulot et al. (1992a) drew the base of the horizon. This is probably due to collection failure. Nevertheless, the horizon has the potential for insertion in the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region (see foregoing chapter) and is important for Tethyan-Boreal correlations.

Horizon of Karakaschiceras companyi (lower middle part of the Trinodosum Zone)

This horizon was defined by Reboulet (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *K. companyi* Reboulet, 1995, and that of *Criosarasinella furcillata* Thieuloy, 1977. According to Bulot et al. (1992b) and Reboulet (1995) this biostratigraphic interval has a low ammonite diversity. The name-giving species has not yet been reported from other areas outside S.E. France, limiting the potential of the horizon to be inserted in the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region.

Horizon of Criosarasinella subheterocostata (upper part of the Trinodosum Zone)

The horizon was defined by Reboulet (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *C. subheterocostata* Reboulet, 1995, and that of *Teschenites callidiscus* Thieuloy, 1971. The associated ammonite fauna is similar to that of the Horizon of *Criosarasinella furcillata*. *C. subheterocostata* is a new name for *C. heterocostata* Thieuloy, 1977, non Mandov, 1976, which has been found only in France.

The lack of a characteristic fauna of its own and the fact that *C. subheterocostata* has not yet been reported from outside France, makes this horizon unsuitable for inser-

tion in the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region at the moment.

Horizon of *Lyticoceras nodosoplicatum* (lower part of the Nodosoplicatum Zone)

This horizon was defined by Reboulet (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and that of *Lyticoceras bargemense* Reboulet, non Kilian, 1995. According to Bulot et al. (1992b) and Reboulet (1995) the ammonite association is characteristic: *Olcostephanus (Olcostephanus) variegatus* (Paquier, 1890), *Spitidiscus fasciger* Theuiloy, 1972, *Abrytusites thieuloyi* Vasícek & Michalik, 1986, and *A. julyani* (Honnorat-Bastide, 1890). According to Reboulet (1995), *Lyticoceras cryptoceras* (d'Orbigny, 1840) is also an important species in this horizon. *L. nodosoplicatum* Kilian & Reboul, 1915, is known from France, Spain (Klein, in prep.), and Bulgaria. *L. cryptoceras* is reported from France, Spain (Klein, in prep.), Bulgaria, Italy, and perhaps Switzerland. *Spitidiscus fasciger*, *A. thieuloyi* and *A. julyani* are reported outside France from the Carpathians, Spain, and Bulgaria. *Olcostephanus* (O.) *variegatus* has an almost global distribution (see foregoing chapter).

One may consider to abandon the Horizon of *L. nodosoplicatum* in favour of *O.* (*O.*) *variegatus.*

Horizon of *Lyticoceras bargemense* (sensu Reboulet, 1995: upper part of the Nodosoplicatum Zone)

This horizon was defined by Reboulet (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and that of *Subsaynella sayni* (Paquier, 1900).

The name of this horizon and of its index species must be abandoned, because Hoplites (Leopoldia) bargemensis Kilian, 1910, is an objective synonym of Leopoldia castellanensis var. varappensis Baumberger, 1906, which Thieuloy (1977) considered to belong to Breistrofferella. Kilian (1910), however, wrote that his H. (L.) bargemensis looks like Hoplites dubisiensis Baumberger, 1906. The latter was placed into Neohoploceras and synonymized with Neohoploceras schardti (Baumberger, 1906) by Thieuloy et al. (1990). Later Kilian (in Kilian & Reboul, 1915) treated Leopoldia bargemensis as a variety of L. dubisiensis (= Neohoploceras schardti). Adding to the confusion Thieuloy et al. (1990) considered L. dubisiensis var. bargemensis Kilian & Reboul, 1915, to be a senior synonym of Lyticoceras claveli Busnardo & Thieuloy, 1989. This opinion was followed by Reboulet (1995). Thus Hoplites (Leopoldia) bargemensis Kilian, 1910, has successively been placed in the genera Breistrofferella, Neohoploceras and Lyticoceras. Furthermore L. claveli can only with difficulty be distinguished from Acanthodiscus (Neocomites) paludensis Kilian & Reboul, 1915; they may be synonyms. Finally, Bulot et al. (1995b) believe that Lyticoceras bargemense Reboulet, non Kilian is a junior synonym of L. collignoni Bulot, 1995. The latter assumption cannot be true.

Comparison and correlation of the Grenoble and Lyon schemes (Fig. 1)

1) Bulot, Thieuloy, Atrops, and Reboulet define the base of the Horizon of *Baronnites hirsutus* by the first appearance of the name-giving species. Atrops & Reboulet included the Horizon of *Baronnites hirsutus* in the Pertransiens Zone. Bulot & Thieuloy (1995), however, included this horizon in their Stephanophorus Zone, because the

first appearance of both index species is at the same level. It should be mentioned, however, that Thieuloy (1979) reported *B. hirsutus* from bed 47 of the Barret-le-Bas section, which is appreciably (9 beds) below the first appearance of *O. (O.) stephanophorus*. Bulot et al. (1995a), however, reidentified this specimen as *Baronnites* sp. indet. If this specimen would turn out to be a true *hirsutus* after all, the base of the Stephanophorus zone and the Hirsutus Horizon would not coincide at all.

2) Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) include the Pertransiens and Stephanophorus zones in the lower Valanginian. They draw the boundary between the lower and upper Valanginian at the base of the Inostranzewi Zone based on several arguments (see Bulot & Thieuloy, 1995: 19). Their proposal is new in the discussion about the boundary between the lower and upper Valanginian; it is the result of high-resolution collecting in the field during the last years and of the increasing knowledge of the distribution of Lower Cretaceous ammonite genera and species. Atrops & Reboulet (1995a), however, draw the boundary between the lower and the upper Valanginian at the base of the Verrucosum Zone as is currently done since Moullade (1966). Hoedemaeker (1982: 42-45) gives a detailed historical review of the lower/upper Valanginian boundary, which he prefers to draw at the base of the Campylotoxus Zone on historical grounds and on the basis of priority.

3) Whether the base of the Horizon of *Busnadoites subcampylotoxus* and the base of the Horizon of *Karakaschiceras quadristrangulatum* exactly correlate is not sure. Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) drew the base of their Stephanophorus Zone at the fourth bed above the base of their 'faisceau S' of the Barret-le-Bas section at the level of the first appearance of *Busnardoites* sp. juv. cf. *subcampylotoxus*; according to them *B. campylotoxus* appears much later. In the La Charce and Les Prades sections Reboulet (1995) drew the base of his Horizon of *K. quadristrangulatum* at the base of what he interpreted as a 'double lowstand systems tract', which is also the level of the first appearance of *B. campylotoxus*. The 'faisceau S' and the 'double lowstand systems tract' may well represent equivalent intervals, because Reboulet (1995) reported the last *Baronnites hirsutus* from the first bed of his 'double lowstand systems tract V3' of the Les Prades section, Bulot (1995) only a few centimetres below this bed , and Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) a few centimetres below the first bed of their 'fasceau S' in the Barret-le-Bas section. Therefore both levels seem to correlate quite well. Thus there is a discrepancy in the interpretation of the scope and identity of *Busnardoites campylotoxus*.

4) The bases of the Inostranzewi Zone and of the Horizon of *Saynoceras fuhri* coincide. According to Bulot & Thieuloy (1995) *S. fuhri* appears together with *Karakaschiceras inostranzewi* at the base of the Inostranzewi Zone. This knowledge was derived from the fossil distribution in the Carejuan section (Bulot et al., 1995b), where both species appear in bed 56. The Horizon of *S. fuhri* is defined by Atrops and Reboulet (1995a) by the first appearance of this species.

5) The base of the Horizon of *Karakaschiceras pronecostatum* sensu Bulot et al. and the base of the Horizon of *K. pronecostatum* sensu Atrops et al. do not exactly correlate. Their concepts of the index species are slightly different, especially its distinction from *K. biassalense*. Nevertheless, in the key-section of La Charce the discrepancy is not too big, only a few beds. So for convenience sake the bases can be drawn at the same level.

6) The same is the case for the Horizon of Varlheideites peregrinus sensu Bulot et al.

IGCP Proj. 262 (at Mula, 1993) & 362 (at Piobbico, 1995)		Bulot et al., 1993		Hoedemaeker, 1995; Hoede- maeker & Leereveld, 1995
Zones	Horizons	Zones	Horizons	Zones
	P. catulloi			P. catulloi
P. angulicostata	<i>P. anguli-</i> <i>costata</i> auct.			P. ohmi
P. (B.) balearis				P. (B.) balearis
'P. ligatus'		<i>P. ligatus</i> (non sensu Moullade & Thieuloy,		P. ligatus
		1967)	S. mimica	
S. sayni		S. sayni		S. sayni
	C. cruasense		C. cruasense	

Fig. 2. Newly proposed upper Hauterivian zones and horizons.

and the Horizon of *V. peregrinus* sensu Atrops et al. The discrepancy in the La Charce section is small and probably merely due to collection failure.

7) The base of the Radiatus Zone is defined by Reboulet (1995) to coincide with the first appearance of the genus *Acanthodiscus*. He found *A. rebouli* Kilian 1915 in bed 189 (= bed 250 of Bulot et al., 1992b) of the La Charce section, but he did not figure the specimen. Also Mutterlose (1996) recommended to define the base of the Radiatus Zone (= the base of the Hauterivian) as coinciding with the first appearance of the genus *Acanthodiscus*. We prefer to define the base of the Radiatus Zone with the first appearance of *A. radiatus* Bruguière, 1789. The first *A. radiatus* was found by Bulot et al. (1992b) in bed 254 and the first *Acanthodiscus* sp. in bed 252.

8) The base of the Horizon of *Olcostephanus (O.) variegatus* and the base of the Horizon of *Lyticoceras nodosoplicatum* almost correlate. *O. (O.) variegatus* is found by Bulot et al. (1992b) only three beds below the first appearance of *L. nodosoplicatum*. Reboulet (1995), however, found them appearing at the same level.

New upper Hauterivian zones and horizons (Fig. 2)

Zone of Plesiospitidiscus ligatus

Bulot et al. (1992b) defined this zone as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *P. ligatus* (d'Orbigny, 1841) and that of *Balearites balearis* (Nolan, 1894).

This new biostratigraphical unit is not the same as the Ligatus Zone defined by Moullade & Thieuloy (1967), because the species called *P. ligatus* by Moullade & Thieuloy (1967) is not the same as *P. ligatus* d'Orbigny, 1841 (Bulot et al., 1992). The base of this newly defined unit lies well below the base of the old Ligatus Zone of Moullade & Thieuloy (1967) and therefore includes a part of the old Sayni Zone, which was decapitated.

At the base of the zone the index species is associated with Subsaynella mimica Thieuloy & Bulot, 1992, and Pseudomoutoniceras annulare (d'Orbigny, 1842); in the

upper part in the La Charce section it is associated with *Crioceratites majoricensis* (Nolan, 1894), *Acrioceras (Paraspinoceras) pulcherrimum* (d'Orbigny, 1842), *Protacrioceras ornatum* (d'Orbigny, 1850), *Paraspiticeras precrassispinum* (Roch, 1930), and *Megacrioceras doublieri* (Jaubert, 1856).

To establish a correlation with other areas it is important to revise the *Plesiospitidiscus ligatus* group as announced by Bulot et al. (1992b). Awaiting this revision, the Ligatus Zone should remain in the standard zonation scheme of the Mediterranean region.

Horizon of Subsaynella mimica

This horizon is defined by Bulot et al. (1995b) as the beds that contain the acme of *S. mimica* at the base of the Ligatus Zone sensu Bulot et al. (1992). It is not defined by the first occurrence of *S. mimica*, as this species appears a little below (6 m) the entry of *Plesiospitidiscus ligatus* in the La Charce section.

S. mimica is known from France, Algeria and perhaps from Spain, so use as a Mediterranean standard horizon marker is not feasible at the moment.

Zone of Pseudothurmannia ohmi

This zone was introduced by Hoedemaeker (1995) and defined in Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *P. ohmi* (Winkler, 1868) (= *P. angulicostata* auctorum) and that of *P. catulloi* (Parona, 1897). The Ohmi and Catulloi zones together embrace the old Zone of *P. angulicostata*.

Hoedemaeker (1995) described an ammonite association which is quite distinct from the one of he underlying Balearis Zone and still more distinct from the one of the overlying Catulloi Zone. *P. ohmi* has a full Mediterranean distribution (see Hoedemaeker, 1995), so the Ohmi Zone has the potential to be used as a Mediterranean standard zone.

Zone of Pseudothurmannia catulloi

This zone is introduced by Hoedemaeker (1995) and defined in Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *P. catulloi* and that of *Avramidiscus hugii* (Ooster, 1860).

The faunal change between the Catulloi Zone and the underlying Ohmi Zone is very great. According to Hoedemaeker (1995) these two zones have, apart from some long-ranging species, only 3 species in common: *P. ohmi, P. mortilleti* (Pictet & De Loriol, 1858), and *Psilotissotia favrei* (Ooster, 1860). All other 20 species of the Catulloi Zone do not occur in the underlying Ohmi Zone, but continue their ranges into the overlying Hugii Zone. The change with the overlying Hugii Zone is therefore less sharp, but great enough to distinguish the two Zones. *P. catulloi* has also a wide Mediterranean distribution (see Hoedemaeker, 1995), so the Catulloi Zone has all the requisites to be a candidate for a Mediterranean standard zone.

Hoedemaeker (1995) argues that the lower boundary of the Barremian Stage should be drawn at the base of the Catulloi Zone. However, most specialists still prefer the base of the Hugii Zone as the base of this Stage.

IGCP 262 (at Mula, 1993) & 362 (at Piobbico, 1995)		Company et al., 1995; Delanoy, 1997		Vermeulen, 1996, 1998	
Zones	Horizons	Zones	Horizons	Zones	Horizons
M. sarasini	T. ridzewskyi	M. sarasini			
.			L. puzosianum	-	
I. giraudi		I. giraudi	H. emerici	-	
0			I. giraudi		
H. feraudianus		H. feraudianus	E. magnini	-	
,		,	H. feraudianus	1	
					G. provincialis
G. sartousiana		G. sartousiana	C. limentinum	G. sartousiana	G. sartous. & G. provinc.
					G. sartousiana
		A. vandenheckii	E. barremense	H. sayni	H. rusticus
A. vandenheckii				L.	H. sayni
					H. uhligi
					M. tirolensis
				C. darsi	P. caicedi
		M. moutonianum			C. heinzi
					C. darsi
H. caillaudianus					S. deeckei
		K. compressissima		K. compressissima	
					H. caillaudi. & N. didayana
					K. compressissima
			H. fallax	N. pulchella	H. fallax & H. nodosus
K. nicklesi	N. pulchella	K. nicklesi	N. pulchella		N. pulchella
				K. nicklesi	A. camelinus
					K. nicklesi
				P. colombiana	P. colombiana
A. hugii		A. hugii		P. mazuca	P. mazuca
				A. hugii	A. hugii

Fig. 3. Newly proposed Barremian zones and horizons.

Barremian zones and horizons (Fig. 3)

Zone of Avramidiscus hugii

The Hugii Zone was introduced by Busnardo (1984) and defined by Hoedemaeker & Bulot (1990) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearence of *Avramidiscus hugii* and that of *Kotetishvilia nicklesi* (Hyatt, 1903). The genus *Avramidiscus* was introduced by Vermeulen (1996b) with *A. gastaldianus* (d'Orbigny, 1850) as type species and containing also *hugii*, *kiliani* (Paquier, 1900), *vandeckii* (d'Orbigny, 1850), *seunesi* (Kilian, 1889), and *fallacior* (Coquand, in Matheron, 1879). Hoedemaeker (1995) stated that '*Spitidiscus' hugii* and *oosteri* belong to a yet unnamed generic group of the Holcodiscidae and '*Spitidiscus' vandeckii* and *kiliani* to another.

Company et al. (1995) adopted this definition of the Hugii Zone, but they did not find a specific fauna for this zone. Vermeulen (1996a), however, changed the original definition of the Hugii Zone by defining its upper boundary in the Angles Stratotype at the level of the first appearance of *Psilotissotia mazuca* (Coquand, 1880), which he considered a senior subjective synonym of *P. chalmasi* (Nicklès, 1890). He proposed to divide the Hugii Zone sensu Hoedemaeker & Bulot (1990) into three zones: the Hugii Zone at the base, the Mazuca Zone in the middle and the Colombiana Zone at the top. It is recommended by the International Subcommission on Stratigraphic Nomenclature that when a zone is subdivided into two or more zones, the original name should

not be employed for any of the subdivisions. It is however permitted to introduce subzones and horizons. A Hugii Subzone or Horizon may exist as a part of the Hugii Zone.

A. hugii has been found in France, Switzerland, Spain, Bulgaria, and the Slovak Republic; Sakhelashvili (1995) reports for the first time *A. hugii* from Georgia. Subsequently Kvantaliani & Sakhelashvili (1996) adopted the Hugii Zone as the base of the Barremian in Georgia.

The Hugii Zone sensu Vermeulen (1996a) - This biostratigraphic unit is defined in the stratotype of the Barremian Stage near Angles as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *Avramidiscus hugii* in bed 72 and that of *Psilotissotia mazuca* in bed 74.

The Mazuca Zone sensu Vermeulen (1996a) - This biostratigraphic unit was defined in the stratotype near Angles as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *P. mazuca* and that of *P. colombiana* (d'Orbigny, 1842). *P. mazuca* is according to Vermeulen (1996a) a senior synonym of *P. chalmasi. P. mazuca* was only described by Coquand (1880), but not depicted by him, nor by Heinz (1886).

Together with the name-giving species he reported *Arnaudiella malladai* (Nicklès, 1894) and *Psilotissotia bertrandi* (Nicklès, 1894) from this subzone. The remainder of the ammonite association hardly differs from the underlying association of the Subzone of *Avramidiscus hugii* or from the overlying fauna of the Colombiana Zone. *P. mazuca* was reported by Vermeulen (1996a) from Spain, France, Algeria, and with doubt from Colombia. He reported *Arnaudiella malladai* from France, Spain, Roumenia, and Colombia and *P. bertrandi* from France and Spain.

Whether the Mazuca Zone should be introduced as a standard subzone or horizon depends on further research. The frequency of these ammonites is small. Company et al. (1995) did not find *P. mazuca, P. bertrandi*, and *A. malladae* in their sections, but reported only *Discoidellia favrei* (Ooster, 1860) from the Hugii Zone. *P. bertrandi* was reported by Tzankov & Breskovsky (1985) from the Brestak section together with *Kotetishvilia compressissima*. The genus *Discoidella* was defined by Vermeulen (1995b) and has *D. couratieri* Vermeulen, 1995, as type species.

The Colombiana Zone sensu Vermeulen (1996a) - This biostratigraphic unit was defined by Vermeulen (1996a) in the Angles stratotype as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *Psilotissotia colombiana* and that of *Kotetishvilia nicklesi* (Hyatt, 1903). New elements in the fauna are *Subpulchellia* aff. schlumbergeri, Avramidiscus intermedius (d'Orbigny, 1840), and Acrioceras tabarelli (Astier, 1851).

P. colombiana is reported by Vermeulen (1996a) from France, Colombia and with doubt from Spain.

The workability of the Colombiana Zone as a standard subzone or horizon is not great because of the low frequency of the name-giving species. *P. colombiana* was for the first time reported from outside Colombia in France by Vermeulen (1996a). He also reports the species with a question mark from Spain, for he (oral commun., 1997) synonymized *Pulchellia lapparenti* (Nicklès, 1894, p. 50, pl. 6, fig. 12) with *P. colombiana*, or it may be a juvenile *Nicklesia*.

Zone of Kotetishvilia nicklesi

The Nicklesi Zone was proposed by Vermeulen during the meeting of the Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod Team in Digne (Hoedemaeker & Bulot, 1990). The base of this zone was defined by the first appearance of *K. nicklesi*. The upper boundary of the Nicklesi Zone is still in discussion. Hoedemaeker & Bulot (1990), Hoedemaeker et al. (1993), Hoedemaeker et al. (1995), and Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995) define the upper boundary of this zone by the first appearance of *Holcodiscus caillaudianus* (d'Orbigny, 1850), the base of the Caillaudianus Zone; Company et al. (1995) draw the upper boundary by the first appearance of *Kotetishvilia compressissima* (d'Orbigny, 1840), the base of the Compressissima Zone; Vermeulen (1996a) finally draws the upper boundary at the first appearance of *Nicklesia pulchella* (d'Orbigny, 1840), the base of the Pulchella Zone.

The fauna contains, besides the index species and some long ranging cephalopods, *Emericiceras, Acrioceras, Subpulchellia castellanensis* (Hyattt, 1903) and in Spain *S. oehlerti* (Nicklès, 1894) (Company et al., 1995).

Vermeulen (1998b) subdivides the Nicklesi Zone (as he conceived it) into two horizons, the Horizon of *Kotetishvilia nicklesi* at the base and the Horizon of *Almoha-dites camelinus* (d'Orbigny, 1850) at the top. The latter horizon may have some potential of becoming a standard horizon. The range of *K. nicklesi* is long and overlapping the range of *Nicklesia pulchella*, the index species of the overlying zone. A Nicklesi Horizon at the base of the Nicklesi Zone is not necessary.

The Nicklesi Zone is firmly established as a result of the publications of Company et al. (1995) and Vermeulen (1996a).

Zone of Nicklesia pulchella

The Pulchella Zone was introduced by Busnardo (1965) for the whole of the lower Barremian. Hoedemaeker et al. (1993), however, lowered its rank to horizon, because *N. pulchella* was found only in two beds in the upper part of the Nicklesi Zone in the stratotype near Angles. This view was adopted by Company et al. (1995), but not by Vermeulen (1996a).

In the stratotype of Angles, Vermeulen studied the beds 105 to 114 (in fact 33 beds), which had not been studied by Busnardo (1965). Vermeulen proposed again a Pulchella Zone, which he defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species (in bed 109-3) and that of *Kotetishvilia compressissima* (in bed 115). He gave ample arguments for his proposal (Vermeulen, 1996a: 201-202).

Whether it is important to establish a Pulchella Zone instead of a Pulchella Horizon is yet unclear. Both Company et al. (1995) and Vermeulen (1996a) find their first specimens of *Nicklesia pulchella* in association with the last specimens of *Kotetishvilia nicklesi*. They also found their first *Anahamulina subcincta* (Uhlig, 1883) just before or together with *N. pulchella*, but the remainder of the two accompanying faunas is not comparable. Vermeulen (1996a) advanced some technical arguments to reweight the decision of Hoedemaeker et al. (1993) to lower the rank of the Pulchella Zone to horizon. However the only real argument would be the long reputation of *N. pulchella* and its use since 1965 as a zonal index. Nevertheless there is still nothing against its rank of horizon or subzone. A Pulchella Zone as proposed by Vermeulen would,

however, subdivide the Nicklesi Zone into two zones and it is not recommended by the International Subcommission on Stratigraphic Nomenclature that one of the subdivisions keeps the original name. To avoid confusion it would be permissible to subdivide the Nicklesi Zone into two subzones.

Vermeulen (1998b) subdivided his Pulchella Zone into two horizons, a lower Horizon of *N. pulchella* (which is equivalent to the Pulchella Horizon of Hoedemaeker et al., 1993) and an upper Horizon of *Holcodiscus fallax* (Coquand, in Matheron, 1879) and *Holcodiscus nodosus* (Karakasch, 1907). In the same bed as the two latter species he found a badly preserved specimen that may be *K. compressissima*.

Zone of Holcodiscus caillaudianus

Holcodiscus caillaudianus was for the first time used as name-giving species for a zone by Kilian (1889) in the "horizon de Combe Petite à *Holcodiscus caillaudi*". In 1895 he changed names and distinguished beds with "*Holcodiscus caillaudi* and *Emericiceras Emerici*", which contains a fauna that he considered characteristic for the lower Barremian. In 1907, however, he changed the name of this zone into "Zone des *Pulchellia compressissima* d'Orb. und des *Holcodiscus fallax* Math. Sp." and finally in 1910 into "Zone des *Crioceras Emerici* d'Orb. und des *Pulchellia compressissima* d'Orb. sp.".

Drushchits (in Drushchits & Kudriavtsev, 1960) uses *Holcodiscus caillaudianus* as the name-giving species of a Caillaudianus Zone that embraces the 'middle' part of the Barremian (the lower part being in his view the Angulicostata Zone). Patrulius (1969), who regarded the Angulicostata Zone as uppermost Hauterivian, keeps using this species as a marker for the lower Barremian in Roumenia together with *Torcapella suessi* (Simionescu, 1898). This idea was followed by Stranik et al. (1974) for Tunesia, by Egoyan (1977) for the North Caucasus, by Kotetishvili (1980, 1986) for the main part of the lower Barremian of Georgia, and by Kakabadze (1989) for the lower Barremian of Georgia.

The Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod Team (Hoedemaeker & Bulot, 1990), at last, proposed to use the Caillaudianus Zone for the upper part of the lower Barremian of the Mediterranean Region, without much argumentation. It was considered to represent the biostratigraphic interval from the first appearance of *H. caillaudianus* up to the first appearance of *Ancyloceras vandenheckii* (Astier, 1851). It covers the interval between the beds with *Nicklesia pulchella* and the base of the upper Barremian.

Company et al. (1995) decided not to use the Caillaudianus Zone, because *Holcodiscus fallax* is the first *Holcodiscus* that appears in this interval, whereas *H. caillaudianus* is rare and appears at a somewhat higher level. According to their investigations the former zones of Busnardo (1984), the Compressissima and Moutoniceras zones, are more workable and better recognizable in the Mediterranean region than the Caillaudianus Zone. Also Vermeulen (1996a) did not discuss the Caillaudianus Zone, but sticks to his heterophylic biozonation based only on Pulchellidae. *H. caillaudianus* (typical form) appears in the Compressissima Zone (Clos de Barral section); the last *H. caillaudianus* was recorded in the newly introduced Darsi Zone (Vermeulen, 1996a). In the Angles section *H. caillaudianus* was only reported from the Compressissima Zone (Vermeulen, 1996a, 1998b).

Whether one should maintain the Caillaudianus Zone or switch to a Compressissima Zone, is a question of appreciation. The two index species *Holcodiscus caillaudi*-

anus and *Kotetishvilia compressissima* have almost the same vertical distribution in the Mediterranean region. *Holcodiscus caillaudianus* has the oldest 'rights'. An argument for adopting a Compressissima Zone is the better knowledge in Spain and in France of the range of *Kotetishvilia compressissima*, especially in the Barremian stratotype. Company et al. (1995) found only *Holcodiscus* cf. *caillaudianus* in their sections and in the stratotype near Angles it is quite rare; only Vermeulen (1996a, 1998b) mentions it. Both genera *Holcodiscus* and *Kotetishvilia* are rare or absent in America and Asia. Recently Kvantaliani & Sakhelasvili (1995) report *K. compressissima* from Georgia. Kvantaliani & Sakhelashvili (1996) adopt a Compressissima Zone for (Western) Georgia, but below a Caillaudianus Zone.

In accordance with the findings of Company et al. (1995) and of Vermeulen (1996a) we recommend to replace the Caillaudianus Zone by the Compressissima Zone and by the Moutonianum Zone (see below) as standard zones of the Mediterranean region, partly returning to the original views of Busnardo (1965, 1984).

Zone of Kotetishvilia compressissima

Both Company et al. (1995) and Vermeulen (1996a) prefer to return to the Compressissima Zone of Busnardo (in the sense of 1984, not in the sense of 1965) and to abandon the Caillaudianus Zone, because Busnardo's zone appears to be more workable than the latter. Busnardo introduced this zone, but Company et al. (1995) defined it as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *K. compressissima* and that of *Moutoniceras moutonianum* (d'Orbigny, 1850).

Also Vermeulen (1996a) defined the base of the Compressissima Zone with the appearance of the name-giving species in the Angles stratotype, but its top by the first appearance of *Coronites* (*Coronites*) *darsi* Vermeulen, 1995a, which appears slightly above that of *M. moutonianum*. The first *K. compressissima* occurs together with the last *Nicklesia pulchella*.

Vermeulen (1997a) distinguished two horizons in his Compressissima Zone, a lower Horizon of *Nicklesia didayana* (d'Orbigny, 1841) and an upper Horizon of *Pulchellia communis* (Bürgl, 1956). A year later, however, he distinguished 4 horizons: a Horizon of *K. compressissima* at the base, followed by a Horizon of *H. caillaudianus* and *N. didayana* in which *H. caillaudianus* is already frequently present, then a Horizon of *P. communis* and finally at the top a Horizon of *Subtorcapella deeckei* (Kilian & Reboul, 1915). It should be noted that the concept of horizon of Vermeulen differs from the concept of the other authors referred to in this paper. Vermeulen's horizons are vague, and may be regarded rather as thin intervals characterized by the acmes of the name-giving species, than as small zones defined by the first appearance of the index species. The species *N. didayana* is known from the western part of the Mediterranean region and possibly from Colombia. *P. communis* and *S. deeckei* are rare in the Mediterranean region and the horizons based on these species have therefore little potential of becoming standard horizons.

Horizon of *Holcodiscus fallax* (lower part of the Compressissima Zone)

At the base of the Compressissima Zone Company et al. (1995) distinguished a Horizon of *Holcodiscus fallax* as a biostratigraphic interval containing, apart from *Holcodiscus fallax* also *Holcodiscus nicklesi* Karakasch, 1907, *Dissimilites dissimilis*

(d'Orbigny, 1842), and *Holcodiscus gastaldianus* (d'Orbigny, 1850). Whether they found true *H. gastaldianus* or *H. 'gastaldii'* Kilian, 1889, non d'Orbigny, 1850, is not clear. The top of the Fallax Horizon is not defined, but drawn before the appearance of *H. cf. caillaudianus*.

The Fallax Horizon that Vermeulen (1998b) distinguished in the upper part of his Pulchella Zone is presumably equivalent to the Fallax Horizon of Company et al. (1995).

Zone of Moutoniceras moutonianum

Busnardo (1984) introduced a Moutoniceras Zone in the uppermost part of the lower Barremian. Company et al. (1995), who prefered to abandon the Caillaudianus Zone, followed Busnardo's view (1984), but instead of a Moutoniceras Zone Company et al. preferred a Moutonianum Zone. They defined their Moutonianum Zone as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *M. moutonianum* and that of '*Ancyloceras' vandenheckii*. The genus *Moutoniceras* is already present with *M. nodosum* (d'Orbigny, 1850) in their Compressissima Zone. A similar distribution has been found in the stratotype near Angles, for Vermeulen (oral commun., 1997) reported *M. nodosum* from bed 112-5 in the upper part of his Pulchella Zone and from the lower part of his Compressissima Zone. *M. moutonianum* is found in France, Spain and questionably in Roumenia, Poland and Colombia.

If the Compressissima Zone is preferred above the Caillaudianus Zone, a choice remains between the Moutonianum Zone and the Darsi Zone of Vermeulen,1997a (not of Vermeulen, 1996a, because the latter comprises also the Sayni Subzone). On account of arguments presented in the next paragraph we prefer the Moutonianum Zone instead of the Darsi Zone. The former has, however, the disvantage that it has not been recognized in the stratotype near Angles.

Zone of Coronites darsi (two different concepts)

Vermeulen (1996a) defined his Darsi Zone as the interval between the first appearance of *C. darsi* Vermeulen, 1994 and that of *Gerhardtia sartousiana* (d'Orbigny, 1841). Vermeulen (1996a) subdivided this zone into two subzones: a lower Subzone of *C. darsi* with the same base as the zone of that name, and an upper Subzone of *Heinzia sayni*, of which the ammonite association differs markedly from the underlying Darsi Subzone. The boundary between the subzones is the first appearance of *H. sayni* (Hyatt, 1903).

A year later, however, presumably as a consequence of this marked difference in the composition of the ammonite assemblages of the two subzones, Vermeulen (1997a) restricted the Darsi Zone to the lower part of his former Darsi Zone, i.e. to his former Darsi Subzone. In order to avoid confusion it is recommended by the International Subcommission of Stratigraphic Nomenclature not to use the name of the former unsubdivided zone for one of its subdivisions, if a formerly defined zone was subdivided into two new zones. Therefore we recommend to use the Moutonianum Zone instead of the Darsi Zone. Besides, *Coronites darsi* is not a well-known species. According to Vermeulen (1995a, 1996a) *C. darsi* has been found in France, Spain and Algeria and questionably in Bulgaria and Colombia. According to Vermeulen (oral communication 1997) its presence in Bulgaria is pretty sure.

Vermeulen (1997a) distinguished three horizons in his new Darsi Zone (= his former Darsi Subzone): a lower Horizon of *C. darsi*, a middle horizon of *Curiolites heinzi* (Sayn, 1891, non Coquand, 1880), and an upper horizon of *Pulchellia caicedi* (Karsten, 1886). According to Vermeulen (1997a) the unfigured and poorly described *Ammonites heinzi* Coquand, 1880, should be abandoned. A year later he distiguished two more horizons at the top of his new Darsi Zone above the Caicedi Horizon, viz. a Horizon of *Macroscaphites tirolensis* (Uhlig, 1887) and at the very top a Horizon of *Holcodiscus uhligi* Karakasch, 1907. According to recent correlations of Hoedemaeker (in press) the first *Ancyloceras vandenheckii* was found in SE Spain at a level below the level in which *M. tirolensis* was found in the French Angles section. So the biostratigraphic relations in the middle part of the Angles stratotype are still unclear due to the scarceness of ammonites.

Zone of Heinzia sayni

Vermeulen (1997a) also changed the rank of his Sayni Subzone into 'zone' without changing the scope or fossil assemblage of the subzone. This is permissible. The new Sayni Zone (= former Sayni Subzone) is therefore acceptable as a zone. The Sayni Zone was defined by Vermeulen (1996a) as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *H. sayni* and that of *G. sartousiana*. It approximately covers the same stratigraphic interval as the Vandenheckii Zone.

The Sayni Zone was subdivided by Vermeulen (1998b) into a lower Horizon of *H. sayni* and an upper Horizon of *Hemihoplites rusticus* Vermeulen, 1996. The vertical and horizontal distribution of this new species should be examined first before this horizon can be introduced as a standard Mediterranean zone.

It is not clear whether the Vandenheckii Zone should be preferred above the Sayni zone (= former Sayni Subzone). The Vandenheckii Zone was defined by Hoedemaeker & Bulot (1990) as the biostratigraphic interval from the first appearance of the index species to the first appearance of *Gerhardtia sartousiana*. 'Ancyloceras' vandenheckii and H. sayni are distributed all over the Mediterranean region; the latter species was reported from Colombia by Vermeulen (1996a), the former species (Ancyloceras cf. vandenheckii) probably occurs there also (Kakabadze & Hoedemaeker, 1997). The Barremian Stage Working Group (Rawson, 1996) recommended in Brussels that the base of the upper Barremian should be defined by the first appearance of the ammonite Ancyloceras vandenheckei [sic]. A choice for a Sayni Zone instead of a Vandenheckii Zone only slightly effects this recommendation. However, the existence of two zones based on the same species name sayni should be avoided, especially if they occur stratigraphically close in two successive stages.

Horizon of *Emericiceras barremense* (upper part of the Vandenheckii Zone)

The Barremense Zone of Busnardo (1984) was rejected by the IGCP 262 team (Hoedemaeker & Bulot 1990), because of the uncertainty of the identity of the index species. Instead of '*Emericiceras' barremense* the species *Ancyloceras vandenheckii* was preferred as index species. Company et al. (1995), however, reintroduced the Horizon of *E. barremense* as the upper part of the Vandenheckii Zone and defined it as the bio-stratigraphic interval from the first appearance of *E. barremense* (Kilian, 1895) to that of *G. sartousiana*. The name-giving species is known from Spain, France, South Tirol,

Roumenia, and perhaps from Bulgaria.

Whether a Horizon of *E. barremense* can be recognized in the Angles stratotype section is not clear. Vermeulen (1998b) reported this species from the base of his Sayni Horizon. Busnardo (1965) reported *E.* cf. *barremense* only from a section in the neighbourhood of the Angles section. From the Angles section itself he mentioned only *E.* cf. *clausum* from the interval between bed 152 to 157 and *Emericiceras* sp. indet. from the intervals between bed 158 to 161 and bed 162 to 164.

A Horizon of *E. barremense* could provisionally be accepted. In this respect it is important to know at what level(s) this species appears in the sections of SE France.

Subzones of Gerhardtia sartousiana and of G. provincialis

The Zone of *G. sartousiana* was introduced by Vermeulen at the meeting of the Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod Team in 1990 in Digne (Hoedemaeker & Bulot, 1990). It was defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *G. sartousiana* and that of *Hemihoplites feraudianus* (d'Orbigny, 1841). Vermeulen (1996a) divided the Sartousiana Zone into two subzones, the Subzone of *G. sartousiana* at the base and the Subzone of *G. provincialis* at the top. The presence of *G. provincialis* (d'Orbigny, 1841) in the upper part of the Sartousiana Zone was confirmed by Delanoy (1997, 1998). Due to the work of Vermeulen (1996a) the Sartousiana Zone is well established. Also Delanoy (1995b) and Cecca (1995) recognize this zone in their sections. Recently Kvantaliani & Sakhelashvili (1997) describe *G. sartousiana* from the upper Barremian of Georgia. They propose to adopt a Sartousiana Zone overlying the Vandenheckii Zone in Georgia. The zone seems to be a workable biostratigraphic unit.

The Sartousiana Subzone has the same base as the zone of that name; its top was defined by the first appearance of *G. provincialis*. The Provincialis Subzone was defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of the name-giving species and the first appearance of *Hemihoplites feraudianus*. In 1997 Vermeulen changed the rank of these subzones into horizons, because at the boundary between the horizons he introduced a transitional horizon in which primitive morphotypes of *G. provincialis* occur together with late morphotypes of *G. sartousiana*. This transitional horizon seems difficult to recognize and has a low potential for becoming accepted as a standard horizon and may be roughly equivalent to the Horizon of *Camereiceras limentinus* (see next paragraph).

He wrote that the late morphotypes of the *G. provincialis* group in the top part of the zone are the last members of the Pulchelliidae in France. This is confirmed by Delanoy (1995b, 1997, 1998). In Spain, however, Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995) reported the last *Heinzia* from the base of the Giraudi Zone and Aguado et al. (1992) the last *Subpulchellia* from the lowermost part of the Feraudianus Zone.

Horizon of Camereiceras limentinum (lower upper part of the Sartousiana Zone)

This horizon is defined by Delanoy (1997, 1998) as the biostratigraphic interval delimited by the total range of *C. limentinum* (Thieuloy, 1979). It is situated in the middle of the Sartousiana Zone and approximately separates beds with *G. sartousiana* below from beds with *G. provincialis* above.

In 1979 Thieuloy recognized a guide horizon of C. limentinum, an isolated horizon

which separates the Glandasse Limestone Formation from the Urgonian Limestone Formation within the platform sediments of the Vercors Mountains. However, the position of the Limentinum Horizon in the zonal scheme was not accurately known. This horizon has not been found with certainty outside France. It is therefore not yet acceptable as a standard Mediterranean horizon. The ammonite from Roumenia referred to by Avram (1983) as '*Crioceratites* ex gr. *barremense-orbignyi*' was identified by Delanoy (1997) as *Camereiceras* aff. *limentinum*; Delanoy therefore correlates his Limentinus Horizon with the Roumenian beds containing this species.

Horizon of *Hemihoplites feraudianus* (lower part of he Feraudianus Zone)

Delanoy (1997) subdivided the Feraudianus Zone into two horizons, a lower Horizon of *H. feraudianus* and an upper Horizon of *Emericiceras magnini*. The first horizon is defined as the biostratigraphic interval between the first appearance of *H. feraudianus* and that of *E. magnini* Delanoy, 1992. The Feraudianus Horizon is characterized by the association of *H. feraudianus* with *Pseudohaploceras douvillei* (Fallot, 1920), *Spinocroceras polyspinum* Kemper, 1973, and in platform facies *Hemihoplites soulieri* (Matheron, 1878). *S. polyspinum* has been found in France, Italy, Spain, and Georgia, and also occurs in the boreal deposits of Northern Germany. It therefore guarantees a Tethyan-Boreal correlation. This horizon has all the ingredients to be inserted in the standard Mediterranean zonal scheme, but is unneceassary if the next Magnini Horizon is not accepted.

Horizon of Emericiceras magnini (upper part of the Feraudianus Zone)

The first appearance of *E. magnini* defines the base of the Magnini Horizon. The top of the latter horizon was defined by the appearance of *Imerites giraudi* (Kilian, 1888). *E. magnini* has not yet been found outside France and it is therefore not recommended to insert this horizon in the standard zonal scheme of the Mediterranean region. The first species of *Heteroceras* (*H. baylei*, *H. coulleti*) appear in this horizon.

Horizon of Imerites giraudi (lower part of the Giraudi Zone)

The base of this horizon was defined by Delanoy (1997) as coinciding with the base of the Giraudi Zone at the first appearance of *I. giraudi*, its top by the first appearance of *Heteroceras emerici* (d'Orbigny, 1841). According to Delanoy (1997) the name-giving species was reported from France, Spain, Bulgaria, Roumenia, and the Caucasus area. The maintenance of this biostratigraphic unit as a separate horizon depends on the acceptance of the next higher Horizon of *H. emerici*. If this is not accepted, the Giraudi Horizon is unnecessary.

Horizon of Heteroceras emerici (middle part of the Giraudi Zone)

This horizon is defined as the biostratigraphic interval in which *H. emerici* dominates, in which representatives of the genus *Heteroceras* are abundant, and in which the last *Imerites* occurs. Whether this horizon has a chance to enter the standard Mediterranean zonal scheme, depends on how frequent *H. emerici* occurs and how wide its horizontal distribution is. According to Delanoy it occurs in France, Bulgaria, the Caucasus area, and in Japan.

Horizon of Leptoceratoides puzosianus (basal part of the Sarasini Zone)

This horizon is introduced by Busnardo (1965) and defined by Delanoy (1997) as the biostratigraphic interval occupied by the short range of *L. puzosianus* (d'Orbigny, 1842). It is also characterized by the presence of *Martelites sarasini* (Rouchadze, 1933) and *Pseudohaploceras matheroni* (d'Orbigny, 1841); both species have their first appearance in this horizon. If the horizontal distribution (France, Tunisia) of *L. puzosianus* can be enlarged, the horizon certainly has the potential of becoming incorporated in the standard Mediterranean zonal scheme.

Correlations of the Granada scheme of the Barremian Stage with the Nice scheme

1) In the correlation table of Fig. 3 the base of the Compressissima Zone sensu Company et al. (1995) and the one sensu Vermeulen (1996a) are tentatively drawn at the same level. *Holcodiscus fallax* is according to Company et al. (1995) an element of the basal part of the Compressissima Zone, but Vermeulen (1996a) reported this species only from the upper part of his Pulchella Zone. There are three possibilities to explain this discrepancy, which is due to collection failure: either (1) Company et al. (1995) failed to find *H. fallax* in their Pulchella Horizon or (2) Vermeulen failed to find *H. fallax* in the basal part of his Compressissima Zone or (3) Vermeulen failed to find *Kotetishvilia compressissima* in the beds with *H. fallax*.

The discrepancy is probably explained by the third possibility, as it is supported by the results of the investigations of Tzankov & Breskovski (1985), who found in the Brestak-section in Central North Bulgaria the first *H. fallax* at the 27 m and 30 m levels together with *K. compressissima, Holcodiscus nicklesi, Avramidiscus gastaldianus,* and *Dissimilites dissimilis.* However, they found the first *Nicklesia pulchella* at the 38 m level together with *Moutoniceras moutonianum, Holcodiscus caillaudianus* and *Kotetishvilia compressissima*: a mix of zones or perhaps a misidentification of *Nicklesia pulchella*? Moreover, in 1998b Vermeulen mentions a possible specimen of *K. compressissima* collected together with *H. fallax* in the upper part of his Pulchella Zone.

2) The base of Vermeulens' (1997a) Darsi Zone (= Darsi Subzone of Vermeulen, 1996a) may be slightly younger than the base of the Moutonianum Zone of Company et al. (1995), for in the Angles and Clos-de-Barral sections Vermeulen (1996a) found *M. moutonianum* in the top part of his Compressissima Zone. In Spain the ranges of *M. moutonianum* and *K. compressissima* are slightly overlapping (Company et al., 1995), whereas the ranges of *K. compressissima* and *Coronites darsi* have not been reported as overlapping.

The top of the Moutonianum Zone and the top of the Darsi Zone may approximately be drawn at the same level, for according to Vermeulen the overlying Sayni Zone is approximately equivalent to the Vandenheckii Zone. The correlation between the Moutonianum Zone and the Darsi Zone given by Vermeulen (1998b) is probably not correct; he drew the base of the Moutonianum Zone approximately in the middle of the Darsi Zone.

3) The Sayni Zone is approximately equivalent to the Vandenheckii Zone, because the first specimens that have been called *Heinzia 'provincialis'* by various authors (Vermeulen, 1980a; Avram, 1983; Company et al., 1995; Hoedemaeker & Leereveld, 1995; Cecca & Pallini, 1995), appear together with *Ancyloceras vandenheckii* at the base of the

Vandenheckii Zone. These specimens, however, are probably identical with *Heinzia* sayni. Vermeulen (1996a) states that *Gerhardtia provincialis* is frequently confounded with *H. sayni*, which characterizes the lower part of the Sayni Zone, whereas *G. provincialis* characterizes the Provincialis Subzone, which is the upper part of the Sartousiana Zone.

According to Vermeulen *H. sayni* is quite different from *G. provincialis* and does not have the striking narrow siphonal furrow of the latter. D'Orbigny (1850) diagnosed *Ammonites provincialis* as 'espèce voisine de l'*A. galeatus*, mais s'en distinguant par un sillon profond sur le milieu du dos de la coquille.' Sayn (1891: 153) did not propose a type species for his new subgenus *Heinzia*. Hyatt (1903) introduced *H. sayni* as a new name for *Pulchellia provincialis* Sayn, 1891, non d'Orbigny, 1850, and subsequently designated *H. sayni* Hyatt, 1903, as type species of *Heinzia*. Roman (1938), followed by Wright (1996), however, erroneously considered *Ammonites provincialis* d'Orbigny, 1850, the type species. Only recently Vemeulen (1996a) figured what he considers to be a specimen of *H. sayni*.

It is quite possible that the specimens of *Heinzia 'provincialis'* of Avram (1983), Company et al. (1995), Hoedemaeker & Leereveld (1995), and Cecca & Pallini (1995) are in reality specimens of *H. sayni*. The latter species is the first *Heinzia* and this genus appears at the base of the upper Barremian.

In this respect it is relevant to note that in the Angles section ammonites are very rare between beds 125 to 146. This interval comprises three sequence boundaries bounding two depositional sequences. The first *H. sayni* was found above this virtually ammonite-barren interval just above the third sequence boundary, whereas in the Río Argos section near Caravaca (SE Spain) the first *A. vandenheckii* and the first *H. sayni* (called *H. provincialis* by Hoedemaeker & Leereveld, 1995) were found together at a level that correlates with a level in the first depositional sequence in the Angles section, and that is situated below the level in which *Macroscaphites tirolensis* was found (Hoedemaeker & Leereveld, 1995; Hoedemaeker, in press). This would imply that the horizons with *Holcodiscus uhligi* and *M. tirolensis* (which comprise the fossilpoor interval) would form part of the Vandenheckii/Sayni Zone instead of the Darsi Zone, and that the first find of *H. sayni* in the Angles section is apparently stratigraphically too high; *Ancyloceras vandenheckii* has not been found in that section.

Conclusions

Of the Valanginian to Barremian biostratigraphic units proposed since 1993 the following have in our opinion the greatest potential to be accepted as part of the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region: Horizon of *Karakaschiceras biassalense* sensu Bulot et al. (1992b) Horizon of *Karakaschiceras pronecostatum* Horizon of *Varlheideites perigrinus* Horizon of *Breistrofferella castellanensis* Horizon of *Olcostephanus variegatus* Zone of *Plesiospitidiscus ligatus* sensu Bulot et al (1992b) Zone of *Pseudothurmannia ohmi* Zone of *Pseudothurmannia catulloi*

Zone of Kotetishvilia compressissima (the horizon of that name at the base of the Zone is unnecessary)

Zone of Moutoniceras moutonianum.

Of the Valanginian to Barremian biostratigraphic units proposed since 1993 the following have in our opinion the lowest potential to be accepted as part of the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region: Horizon of Kilianella thieuloyi Horizon of Busnardoites subcampylotoxus Horizon of *Busnardoites campulotoxus* Zone of Karakaschiceras inostranzewi Horizon of Leopoldia buxtorfi Horizon of Lyticoceras collignoni Horizon of Karakaschiceras quadristrangulatum Horizon of Saynoceras fuhri Horizon of Karakaschiceras biassalense sensu Reboulet Horizon of *Neocomites platycostatus* Horizon of Neocomites neocomiensis Horizon of Karakaschiceras companyi Horizon of Criosarasinella subheterocostata Horizon of Lyticoceras nodosoplicatum Horizon of Lyticoceras bargemense Horizon of Subsaynella mimica Zone of Avramidiscus hugii sensu Vermeuelen Zone of Psilotissotia mazuca Zone of Psilotissotia colombiana Zone of Holcodiscus caillaudianus Horizon of Subtorcapella deeckei Horizon of Holcodiscus uhligi Horizon of Macroscaphites tirolensis Horizon of Hemihoplites rusticus Horizon of Camereiceras limentinum Horizon of Gerhardtia sartousiana and G. provincialis Horizon of Hemihoplites feraudianus Horizon of Emericiceras magnini. The insertion of the following newly proposed Valanginian to Barremian biostratigraphic units into the standard zonation of the Mediterranean region is worth discussing: Zone of Olcostephanus stephanophorus Horizon of Barronites hirsutus Zone of Kotetishvillia nicklesi Zone of Nicklesia pulchella Horizon of Holcodiscus fallax Horizon of *Pulchellia communis* Horizon of Nicklesia didayana

Zone and Horizon of Coronites darsi

Horizon of Curiolites heinzi

Horizon of *Pulchellia caicedi* Zone and Horizon of *Heinzia sayni* Horizon of *Emericiceras barremense* Subzone and Horizon of *Gerhardtia sartousiana* Subzone and Horizon of *Gerhardtia provincialis* Horizon of *Imerites giraudi* Horizon of *Heteroceras emerici* Horizon of *Leptoceratoides puzosianum*.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Jean Vermeulen for his valuable oral discussion and written communications with Jaap Klein about the Barremian zonation.

References

- Arnaud, H., J.-P. Thieuloy & L. Bulot, 1992. Provence Platform (Berriasian to Barremian). Early Cretaceous backstepping. Faunal renewals and sequence startigraphy. In: Alpine Mesozoic Basin in the Southeast of France. — AAPG Fieldcourse, Nice: 119-133.
- Aguado, R., M. Company, L. O'Dogherty, J. Sandoval & J.M. Tavera, 1992. Biostratigraphic analysis of the pelagic Barremian/Aptian in the Betic Cordillera (Southern Spain): preliminary data. — Cret. Res., 13: 445-452.
- Atrops, F. & S. Reboulet, 1993. Nouvelles donneés sur la zonation des ammonites du Valanginien supérieur de l'hypostratotype d'Angles (Alpes de Haute-Provence) et sur ses corrélations. — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2, 317: 499-506.
- Atrops F. & S. Reboulet, 1995a. Le Valanginien-Hauterivien basal du bassin vocontien et de la bordure provençale: zonation et corrélations. — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2a, 320: 985-992.
- Atrops F. & S. Reboulet, 1995b. Neolissoceras (Carinites), nouveau sous-genre d'Ammonites du Valanginien du bassin vocontien (SE de la France). — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2a, 321: 1203-1210.
- Atrops, F. & S. Reboulet, 1996. Vergoliceras, nouveau nom pour Carinites Atrops & Reboulet, 1995 (Ammonitina, Valanginien), non Carinites Wiedmann, 1973. — Géobios, 29, 6: 670.
- Avram, E., 1983. Barremian ammonite zonation in the Carpathian area. Zitteliana,10: 509-514.
- Avram, E., 1995. Lower Cretaceous (Valanginian Early Aptian) ammonite succession in the Svinita (SW Rumania). — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20: 113-167.
- Baraboshkin, E.J., 1997. The new stratigraphic scheme of the Lower Cretaceous between Kacha and Bodrak River (South-Western Crimea). — Vestnik MGU., Geol., 3, 20: 22-30.
- Baumberger, E., 1925. Die Kreidefossilien von Dusun Pobungo, Batu Kapur-Menkadai und Sungi Pobungo (Djambi, Sumatra). — Verh. Geol.-Mijnbouwk. Genootsch. Ned. Kol., Geol., 8 (Gedenkboek Verbeek): 17-48.
- Blanc, E., A. Arnaud-Vanneau, H. Arnaud, L. Bulot, M. Gidon, J.-P. Thieuloy & J. Remane, 1992. Les couches du passage du Berriasien au Valanginien dans le secteur du Fontanil (Isère, France). — Géol. Alpine, 68: 3-12.
- Blanc, E., L.G. Bulot & J.-C. Paicheler, 1994. La coupe de référence de Montbrun-les-Bains (Drôme, SE France): un stratotype potentiel pour la limite Berriasien-Valanginien. — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2, 318: 101-108.
- Böse, E., 1923. Algunas faunas cretácicas de Zacatecas, Durango y Guerrero. Bol. Inst. Geol. Mexico, 42: 1-219, 19 pls.
- Bulot, L.G., 1990. Evolution des Olcostephaninae (Ammonitina, Cephalopoda) dans le contexte paléobiogéographique du Crétacé inférieur (Valanginien–Hauterivien) du Sud-Est de la France. — Unpubl. Diplome Sup. Etude Rech., Univ. Dijon: 1-178, 17 pls.

- Bulot, L.G., 1995. Les formations à ammonites du Crétacé inférieur dans le SE de la France (Berriasien-Hauterivien): Biostratigraphie, paléontologie et cycles sédimentaires. — Unpubl. Doctor's Thesis, Mus. Hist. Nat. Paris: 1-398
- Bulot, L.G., A. Arnaud-Vanneau & E. Blanc, 1992a. Basin type successions: biostratigraphic tools, stratigraphic gaps and reworked sediments. In: A. Arnaud-Vanneau (ed.) Transition from platform to basin in the Subalpine chains. — Platform Margins Symposium Guidebook: 25-41.
- Bulot, L.G. & G. Autran, 1989. Révision des typeset figures de la collection Matheron. 1. Olcostephanus stephanophorus (Matheron, 1878). — Mesogée, 49: 15-19.
- Bulot, L.G., E. Blanc, J.-P. Thieuloy & J. Remane, 1993. La limite Berriasien-Valanginien dans le Sud-Est de la France: données biostratigraphiques nouvelles. — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2, 316: 1771-1778.
- Bulot, L.G. (reporter), E. Blanc, M. Company, S. Gardin, S. Hennig & C. Kissel, 1995a. Valanginian Working Group of the IUGS Subcommission on Cretaceous stratigraphy. — First Activities Report, September 1995: 1-14 (unpubl.).
- Bulot, L.G. & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1993. Implications chronostratigraphiques de la révision de l'échelle biostratigraphique du Valanginien supérieur et de l'Hauterivien du Sud-Est de la France. — C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 2, 317: 387-394.
- Bulot, L.G. & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1995. Les biohorizons du Valanginien du Sud-Est de la France: un outil fondamental pour les corrélations au sein de Téthys occidentale. — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 15-41.
- Bulot, L.G., J.-P. Thieuloy, H. Arnaud & G. Delanoy, 1995b. The Lower Cretaceous of the South Vocontian basin and margins. — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 383-399.
- Bulot, L.G., J.-P. Thieuloy, E. Blanc & J. Klein, 1992b. Le cadre stratigraphique du Valanginien supérieur et de l'Hauterivien du Sud-Est de la France: définition des biochronozones et caractérisations de nouveaux biohorizons. — Géol. Alpine, 68: 13-56.
- Busnardo, R., 1965. Le stratotype du Barrémien. I. Lithologie et macrofaune. In: Colloque sur le Crétacé inférieur (Lyon, 1963). — Mém. Bur. Rech. Géol. Min., 34: 101-116.
- Busnardo, R., 1984. Ammonites in Chapitre Crétacé inférieur. In: S. Debrand-Passard (ed.) Synthèse géologique du Sud-Est de la France. — Mém. Bur. Rech. Géol. Min., 125: 292-294.
- Busnardo, R. & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1979. Les zones d'ammonites du Valanginien. Les stratotypes français, 6. — Ed. C.N.R.S., 7: 58-68.
- Busnardo, R. & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1989. Les ammonites de l'Hauterivien jurassien: Révision des faunes de la région du stratotype historique de l'étage Hauterivien. — Mém. Soc. neuchâtel. Sci. natur., 11: 101-147.
- Busnardo, R. & J. Vermeulen, 1986. La limite Hauterivien Barrémien dans la région stratotypique d'Angles (Sud-Est de la France). --- C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris, 302, 2, 7: 457-459.
- Cecca, F., 1995. Late Valanginian ammonites from Monte Catria (Umbria-Marche Apennines, Italy). Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. Ital., 51: 47-58
- Cecca, F., P. Faraoni, A. Marini & G. Pallini, 1995. Field-trip across the representative sections for the Upper Hauterivian-Barremian ammonite biostratigraphy in the Maiolica exposed at Monte Nerone, Monte Petrano and Monte Catria (Umbria-Marche Apennines). — Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. Ital., 51: 187-211.
- Cecca, F. & G. Pallini, 1995. Latest Hauterivian Barremian ammonite biostratigraphy in the Umbria-Marche Apennines (Central Italy). — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 205-217.
- Collignon, M., 1962. Atlas des fossiles caracteristiques de Madagascar, Fascicule 8 (Berriasien Barremien). — Serv. Géol., Tananarive: 1-97.
- Company, M., 1987. Los Ammonites del Valanginiense del sector oriental de las Cordilleras Béticas (SE de España). --- Doctor's Thesis, Univ. Granada: 1-294.
- Company, M., J. Sandoval & J.M. Tavera, 1995. Lower Barremian ammonite biostratigraphy in the Subbetic Domain (Betic Cordillera, southern Spain). — Cret. Res., 16: 243-256.
- Coquand, H., 1880. Etudes supplémentaires sur la Paléontologie algérienne. Bull. Acad. Hippone, 15: 1-449.

- Cotillon, P., 1971. Le Crétacé inférieur de l'arc subalpin de Castellane entre l'Asse et le Var. Stratigraphie et sédimentologie. --- Mém. Bur. Rech. Géol. Min., 68: 1-313.
- Delanoy, G., 1992. Les ammonites du Barrémien supérieur de Saint-Laurent-de-l'Escarène (Alpes-Maritimes, Sud-Est de la France). — Ann. Mus. Hist. Nat. Nice, 9: 1-148.
- Delanoy, G., 1995a. Rapport sur l'étage Barrémien. --- Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 43-50.
- Delanoy, G., 1995b. Les Zones à Feraudianus, Giraudi et Sarasini du Barrémien supérieur de la région stratotypique d'Angles - Barrême - Castellane (Sud-Est de la France). — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 279-319.
- Delanoy, G., 1997. Biostratigraphie haute résolution du Barrémien supérieur du Sud-Est de la France. — C. R. Acad. Sci., Terre Planètes, 325: 689-694.
- Delanoy, G., 1998. Biostratigraphie des faunes d'ammonites à la limite Barrémien-Aptien dans la region d'Angles-Barrême-Castellane. Etude particulière de la famille des Heteroceratinae Spath, 1922 (Ancyloceratina, Ammonoidea). — Ann. Mus. Hist. Nat Nice, 12: 1-402.
- Drushchits, V.V. & M.P. Kudriavtsev (eds), 1960. Atlas Nizhnemelovoi fauny severnogo Kavkaza i Kryma (Atlas of the Lower Cretaceous faunas of the northern Caucasus and the Crimea). — Vses. Nauchno-Issledov. Inst. Pirodn. Gasov: 1-701 (in Russian).
- Egoyan, V.L., 1977. Yarushnaya shkala Nizhnego Mela i nizhnemelove otlozheniya zapadnoi chasti Severnogo Kavkaza (Lower Cretaceous stratigraphy in the western part of North Caucasus). — Doctor's Thesis, Leningrad: 1-36 (in Russian).
- Faraoni, P., D. Flore, A. Marini, G. Pallini & N. Pezzoni, 1997. Valanginian and early Hauterivian ammonite successions in the Mt. Catria group (Central Apennines) and in the Lessini Mts (Southern Alps), Italy. — Palaeopelagos, 1997: 59-100.
- Fatmi, A.N., 1977. Neocomian ammonites from northern areas of Pakistan. Bull. British Mus. (Nat. Hist.), Geol., 28, 4: 257-296.
- Fatmi, A.N. & P.F. Rawson, 1993. The first Early Cretaceous ammonite faunas from Baluchistan. Cret. Res., 14: 91-100.
- Gonzales Arrelola, C., F. Oloríz & A.B. Villaseñor, 1995. Nuevos datos sobre el Valanginiano en el nor-noreste de México. Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 191-203.
- He Guo-xiong & Xia Jin-bao, 1984. Early Cretaceous ammonites from Banjoin, Northern Xizang. Acta Palaeont. Sinica, 23, 6: 657-671.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J., 1982. Ammonite biostratigraphy of the uppermost Tithonian, Berriasian, and lower Valanginian along the Río Argos (Caravaca, SE Spain). Scripta Geol., 65: 1-81.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J., 1995. Ammonite distribution around the Hauterivian Barremian boundary along the Río Argos (Caravaca, SE Spain). Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 219-277.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J., in press. Correlating the uncorrelatables: A Tethyan-Boreal correlation of pre-Aptian Cretaceous strata. — Geol. Carpathica.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J. & L.G. Bulot, 1990. Preliminary ammonite zonation for the Lower Cretaceous of the Mediterranean region. — Géol. Alpine, 66: 123-127.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J., F. Cecca (reporters) & 16 co-authors, 1995. Report on the 3rd international workshop on the standard Lower Cretaceous ammonite zonation of the Mediterranean region. — Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. Ital., 51: 23-215.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J., M. Company (reporters) & 16 co-authors, 1993. Ammonite zonation for the Lower Cretaceous of the Mediterranean region; basis for the stratigraphic correlations within IGCP-Project 262. — Rev. Españ. Paleont., 8, 1: 117-120.
- Hoedemaeker, Ph.J. & H. Leereveld, 1995. Biostratigraphy and sequence stratigraphy of the Berriasian - lowest Aptian (Lower Cretaceous) of the Río Argos succession, Caravaca, SE Spain. — Cret. Res., 16: 195-230.
- Hyatt, A., 1903. Pseudoceratites of the Cretaceous. --- Monogr. U. S. Geol. Survey, 44: 1-352.
- Kakabadze, M.V., 1989. The Barremian Biostratigraphical Subdivisions of Georgia (USSR) and Comparison with some Western Mediterranean Regions. In: J. Wiedmann (ed.) Cretaceous of the Western Tethys. Proceed. 3rd Intern. Cret. Symp. Tubingen 1987. — E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart: 551-560.

- Kakabadze, M.V. & Ph. J. Hoedemaeker, 1997. New and less known Barremian-Albian ammonites from Colombia. — Scripta Geol., 114: 57-117.
- Kakabadze, M.V. & E. Kotetishvili, 1995. New data on the upper Barremian biostratigraphy of the Georgian region (Caucasus). — Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. Ital., 51: 103-108.
- Kemper, E., P.F. Rawson & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1981. Ammonites of Tethyan ancestry in the early Lower Cretaceous of North-West Europe. — Palaeontology, 24, 2: 251-311.
- Kilian, W., 1889. Description géologique de la Montagne de Lure (Basses Alpes). Doctor's Thesis, Univ. Paris: 1-458.
- Kilian, W., 1895. Notice stratigraphique sur les environs de Sisteron et contributions à la connaissance des terrains secondaires du Sud-Est de la France. — Bull. Soc. Géol. France, 3, 23: 659-803.
- Kilian, W., 1907. Algemeines über Palaeocretacicum; Unterkreide im südöstlichen Frankreich, Einleitung. — Lethaea Geognostica (F. Frech, ed.). II. Teil. Das Mesozoicum. 3. Bd. Kreide. 1. Abt.: Unterkreide (Palaeocretacicum), Lief. 1: 1-168.
- Kilian, W., 1910. Das bathyale Palaeocretacicum im südöstlichen Frankreich. Valendis-Stufe; Hauterive-Stufe; Barrême-Stufe; Apt-Stufe. — Lethaea Geognostica (F. Frech, ed.). II. Teil. Das Mesozoicum. 3. Bd. Kreide. 1. Abt.: Unterkreide (Palaeocretacicum), Lief. 2: 169-287.
- Kilian, W. & P. Reboul, 1915. II. Sur quelques ammonites de l'Hauterivien de la Bégude (Basses-Alpes). In: W. Kilian (ed.) Contribution à l'étude des faunes paléocrétacées du Sud-Est de la France. — Mém. Servir Explic. Carte Géol. Dét. France: 225-296.
- Koenigswald, G.H.R. von, 1939. Über einige Ammoniten und Aptychen aus der unteren Kreide von Borneo. — Jaarb. Mijnw. Nederl.-Indië, Verh., 68: 162-171.
- Kotetishvili, E., 1980. Semeystvo Pulchellidae H. Douvillé (iznishnemelovykh otlosheniy Yuga SSSR) (The Family *Pulchellidae* H. Douvillé (from the Lower Cretaceous of South USSR)). — Trudy. Geol. Inst. Akad. Nauk. Gruz. SSR, 67: 1-110 (in Russian).
- Kotetishvili, E., 1986. Zonal'naya stratigrafiya Nishnemelovykh otlosheniy Gruzii i paleozoogeogrfiya Pannemelovykh basseynov Sredizemnomorskoy oblasti. (The zonal stratigraphy of the Lower Cretaceous deposits of Georgia and palaeozoogeography of the Mediterranean Early Cretaceous bassins). — Trudy. Geol. Inst. Akad. Nauk Gruz. SSR, 91: 1-160 (in Russian).
- Kutek, J., R. Marcinowski & J. Wiedmann, 1989. The Wawal Section, Central Poland An important link between Boreal and Tethyan Valanginian. In: J. Wiedmann (ed.), Cretaceous of the Western Tethys. Proceed. 3rd Intern. Cretaceous Symp., Tübingen, 1987. — E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagbuchhandlung (Nägele u. Obermiller), Stuttgart: 717-754.
- Kvantaliani, I. & L. Sakhelashvili, 1995. Pulchellia compressissima First occurence in the lower Barremian deposits of Georgia. — Bull. Georgian Acad. Sci., 152, 1: 126-130.
- Kvantaliani, I. & L. Sakhelashvili, 1996. On the zonal subdivision of the lower Barremian sequences in Georgia, Caucasus. Geol. Carpathica, 47, 5: 285-288.
- Kvantaliani, I. & L. Sakhelashvili, 1997. Heinzia sartousiana from upper Barremian deposits of Georgia. — Bull. Georgian Acad. Sci., 155, 2: 236-239.
- Moullade, M., 1966. Étude stratigraphique et micropaléontologique du Crétacé inférieur de la "Fosse Vocontienne". Doc. Lab. Géol. Fac. Sc. Lyon, 15, 1: 1-217.
- Moullade, M. & J.-P. Thieuloy, 1967. Les zones d'ammonites du Valanginien supérieur et de l'Hauterivien vocontiens. — C. R. somm. Soc. Géol. France, 1967, 6: 228-230.
- Mutterlose, J. (compiler), 1996. The Hauterivian Stage. Bull. Inst. R. Sci. Nat. Belgique, 66 Supp.: 19-24.
- Nicklès, R., 1894. Contributions à la paléontologie de Sud-est de l'Espagne. Terrain Crétacé. I. Neocomien. — Mém. Soc. Géol. France, 4: 1-59.
- Nikolov, T.G., 1977. On the Ammonite Genus *Busnardoites* Nikolov, 1966 (Berriasellidae, Lower Cretaceous). — Geol. Balcan., 7, 4: 107-130.
- Orbigny, A. d', 1850. Prodrome de Paléontologie stratigraphique universelle des animaux mollusques et rayonnés, 2. V. Masson, Paris: 1-428.
- Patrulius, D., 1969. Geologia Masivului Bucegisi a Culoarului Dîmbovicioara. --- Ed. Acad. Rep. Soc. Romanîa: 1-321.

- Rawson, P.F. (compiler) 1996. The Barremian Stage. Bull. Inst. R. Sci. Nat. Belgique, Sci.Terre, 66, Supp.: 25-30.
- Rawson, P.F. & Ph.J. Hoedemaeker (reporters) & 11co-authors, 1999: Report on the 4th International Workshop of the Lower Cretaceous Cephalopod Team (I.G.C.P-Project 362). — Scripta Geol., Spec. Issue 3: 3-13.
- Reboulet S., 1995. L'évolution des ammonites du Valanginien-Hauterivien inférieur du bassin Vocontien et de la plate-forme provençale (Sud-Est de la France): relations avec la stratigraphie séquentielle et implications biostratigraphiques. — Doc. Lab. Géol. Lyon, 137: 1-371.
- Reboulet S., F. Atrops, S. Ferry & A. Schaaf, 1992. Renouvellement des ammonites en Fosse Vocontien à la limite Valanginien-Hauterivien. — Géobios, 25, 4: 469-476.
- Robert E., 1994. Caracterisation des sequences de depot du Valanginien et de l'Hauterivien par analyse d'une coupe de talus externe (Preynes, Commune de Beynes, Alpes de Haute-Provence).
 — Mém. Maitrise Géol., Grenoble 1: 1-36
- Roman, F., 1938. Les ammonites Jurassiques et Crétacées. Essai de genera. Masson et Cie, Paris, : 1-554.
- Sakhelashvili, L., 1995. On occurence of Spitidiscus hugii (Ammonoidea) in the lower Barremian sediments of Crimea-Caucasus. — Bull. Georgian Acad. Sci., 152, 2: 328-331.
- Sayn, G., 1891. Description des ammonitides de Barrémien du Djebel Ouach près Constantine. Ann. Soc. Nat. Agric. Hist. Nat. Arts Utiles Lyon, 6, 3 (1890): 135-208.
- Stranik, Z., E. Mencik, L. Memmi & J. Salaj, 1974. Biostratigraphie du Crétacé inférieur de l'Atlas tunisien oriental. In: Conference on African Geology, Ibadan, 1970. — Trav. Géol. Tun., 9, Notes Serv. Géol. Tuncsic, 41: 65-85.
- Thieuloy, J.-P., 1973. The occurrence and distribution of boreal ammonites from the Neocomian of southeast France (Tethyan province). In: R. Casey & P.F. Rawson (eds) The Boreal Lower Cretaceous. — Geol. Jour., Spec. Issue, 5: 289-302.
- Thieuloy, J.-P., 1977. Les ammonites des formations Néocomiennes du sud-est français (Province Subméditerranéenne). — Géobios, 10, 3: 395-461.
- Thieuloy, J.-P., 1979. Matheronites limentinus n. sp. (Ammonoidea) espèce-type d'un horizon-repère Barrémien supérieur du Vercors méridional (Massif Subalpin français). — Géobios, Mém. Spéc. 3: 305-317.
- Thieuloy, J.-P., M. Fuhr & L. Bulot, 1990. Biostratigraphie du Crétacé inférieur de l'arc de Castellane (S.E. de la France). 1. Faunes d'ammonites du Valanginien supérieur et âge de l'horizon dit de 'la Grande Lumachelle'. — Géol. Médit., 17, 1: 55-100.
- Thieuloy, J-P. & L.G. Bulot, 1992. Ammonites du Crétacé inférieur du Sud-Est de la France: 1. Nouvelles espèces à valeur stratigraphique pour le Valanginien et l'Hauterivien. — Géol. Alpine, 68: 85-103.
- Tzankov, V. & S. Breskovski, 1985. Ammonites des familles Holcodiscidae Spath, 1924, et Astieridiscidae Tzankov et Breskovski, 1982. I. Stratigraphie et notes phylogénétiques. — Geol. Balcan., 15, 3: 45-62.
- Vasícek, Z., 1995. Lower Cretaceous ammonite biostratigraphy in the Western Carpathians (The Czech and Slovak Republics). — Géol. Alpine, Mém. H.S., 20 (1994): 169-189.
- Vermeulen, J., 1974. Sur une biostratigraphie basée sur la famille des *Pulchelliidae*. C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris, D, 278: 2885-2887.
- Vermeulen, J., 1975. Les Zones de Pulchelliidae dans le Crétacé Inférieur du Sud-Est de la France (Alpes-de-Haute-Provence, Alpes-Maritimes, Var). — C. R. 99^e Congr. Nat. Soc. Savantes, 1: 17-25.
- Vermeulen, J., 1980a. Étude de la famille des *Pulchelliidae*, révision de trois espèces types du Barrémien du Sud-Est de la France. — Thèse Doct. Spéc., Univ. Nice: 1-100.
- Vermeulen, J., 1980b. Biozonation homophylétique du Barrémien du Clos de Barral (Var). In: G. Thomel, Ammonites. — Ed. Serres, Paris: 181-184.
- Vermeulen, J., 1995a. Coronites (Coronites) darsi, nouvelle espece de la famille des Pulchellidés (Ammonoidea). — Rivièra Scientif., 1994: 57-66.

- Vermeulen, J., 1995b. Nouvelle tripartition de la famille des Pulchelliidae (Ammonoidea) illustrée par la description de trois espèces des Alpes de Haute Provence. Rivièra Scientif., 1995: 65-80.
- Vermeulen, J., 1996a. Nouvelle biozonation du Barrémien basée sur la famille des Pulchelliidae (Ammonoidea). Géol. Alpine, 71(1995): 199-211.
- Vermeulen, J., 1996b. Le Barrémien de Saint Martin, Escragnolles (Alpes-Maritimes, France). Rivièra Scientif., 1996: 53-76.
- Vermeulen, J., 1997a. Origine, classification et évolution des Pulchelliinae (Douvillé) 1911 emend. Vermeulen 1995 (Pulchelliidae, Endemocerataceae, Ammonoidea). — Géol. Alpine, 72: 101-115.
- Vermeulen, J., 1997b. Kotetishvilia, nouveau genre Barrémien de la sous-famille des Psilotissotiinae (Pulchelliidae, Endemocerataceae, Ammonoidea). Géol. Alpine, 72: 117-125.
- Vermeulen, J. 1998a.Sur quelques espèces, nouvelles ou mal connues, de la famille des Pulchelliidae (Endemocerataceae, Ammonoidea). Géol. Alpine, 73 (1997): 77-97.
- Vermeulen, J. 1998b. Biohorizons ammonitiques dans le Barrémien du Sud-Est de la France (de la zone à Hugii à la zone à Sartousiana). Géol. Alpine, 73 (1997): 99-117.
- Wright, C.W., J.H. Callomon & M.K. Howarth, 1996. Treatise on Invertebrate Paleontology. Part L. Mollusca 4 Revised. Volume 4: Cretaceous Ammonoidea. — Geol. Soc. Amer., Boulder (CO) & Univ. Kansas Press, Lawrence (KA): L1-362.